FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/12/2022 9:35 AM

Supreme Court No. _101085-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 830422
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Erica Kelly, Respondent

V.

Consuelo Rosales Solano, Appellant

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gordon C. Klug, WSBA No. 21449 Narmina E. Sharifova, WSBA No. 57190 Attorneys for Appellant Smith Freed Eberhard 1215 Fourth Avenue, Ste. 900 Seattle, WA 98161 Telephone: (206) 576-7575

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Consuelo Rosales Solano, Appellant in the Court of Appeals, files this petition for review.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on June 13, 2022 in *Erica Kelly v. Consuelo Rosales Solano*, No. 83042-2-I. A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached hereto.

The Appendix to this petition includes copies of the following:

1) the Opinion (App. A); 2) RCW 4.84.030 (App. B); 3) RCW 4.84.010

(App. C); 4) Civil Rule 68 (App. D); 5) Federal Civil Rule 68 (App. E);

6) Civil Rule 41 (App. F); and 7) Civil Rule 54 (App. G).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the term "costs" under Civil Rule 68 be limited to statutory costs permitted under RCW 4.84.010 when the stated goal of Civil Rule 68 is to encourage settlement and reduce unnecessary litigation?
- 2. Whether limiting the term "costs" under Civil Rule 68 to statutory costs permitted under RCW 4.84.010 contributes to unnecessary litigation and puts Defendants at a disadvantage?

3. Shall Plaintiff Kelly be required to pay \$93,464.35 in costs incurred by Defendant Solano after making two offers of judgment, if the final judgment against Defendant was less favorable to Plaintiff than the two offers of judgment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

This case is a personal injury suit that arouse from a series of motor vehicle accidents in which Plaintiff claimed she was injured. CP. at 355-360.¹ The three accidents occurred on January 12, 2015, September 29, 2015, and February 9, 2016, involving Milton Nguyen, Consuelo Solano, and Joanne Brothers, respectively. *Id*.

In the January 2015 accident, Plaintiff was driving eastbound on 204th Street SW in Lynwood, Washington. She stopped her vehicle to make a left-hand turn into a driveway and was rear ended by Defendant Nguyen. *Id.* The impact caused the rear window of Plaintiff's Jeep to shatter, and she claimed her knees hit under the steering wheel. An officer responded to the scene and cited Defendant Nguyen for driving without a valid driver's license. Defendant Nguyen's vehicle had to be

¹ References to the "Clerk's Papers" (abbreviated "CP.") or the "Report of Proceedings" (abbreviated "RP") refer to Appellant's Designation of Records for Transmittal.

towed from the scene. Plaintiff's vehicle was drivable but was ultimately declared a total loss.

In the September 2015 accident, Plaintiff was a passenger in a vehicle driven by Alonso Hatcher, who was traveling southbound on Interstate 405 near milepost 26. *Id.* Mr. Hatcher stopped for traffic and was rear ended by Ms. Solano. *Id.* An officer responding to the scene cited Ms. Solano for driving too fast for conditions. *Id.* Neither vehicle suffered significant damage. Mr. Hatcher's vehicle required roughly \$1,500 to repair scratches and chipping on the rear bottom bumper of his Jeep.

In the February 2016 accident, Plaintiff was driving a vehicle and stopped at a red light at S. 43rd Street and Talbot Road in Renton, Washington when she was rear-ended by Ms. Brothers. *Id*. No officers were called, and both vehicles drove away from the scene with minor damage.

Plaintiff claimed a variety of damages arising out of these accidents, including various physical injuries, general damages for pain, and suffering, and past and future lost income. *Id.* Specifically, she alleged that she sustained neck and back injuries, post-traumatic stress disorder, a traumatic brain injury, carpal tunnel syndrome,

depression and failure of her kidneys. She also claimed that all three of the accidents caused her injuries and, as such, all three defendants were jointly and severally liable for her damages.

During trial Defendant Solano was required to retain a significant number of experts to address the plaintiff's myriad of complaints, as well as an accident reconstructionist and biomechanical evaluator to prove what portion of the Plaintiff's damages were due to her accident vs. the other two collisions. The Plaintiff also had a history of prior accidents which were disabling to her. In order to break joint and several liability, Defendant Solano also had to retain experts to prove that a significant amount of the Plaintiff's claims of damages were not related to the second accident.

B. Procedural History of Action in Trial Court

Plaintiff brought the suit against Defendant Solano, the Nguyen Defendants (Mr. Nguyen and his parents), Joanne Brothers, and Hugo Mota Alvarez on December 6, 2016. *Id.* Plaintiff alleged negligence and negligent infliction of emotional distress against the drivers and alleged negligent entrustment against Mr. Nguyen's parents and Mr. Alvarez. *Id.* Ms. Brothers was dismissed pursuant to settlement. Additionally, the Parties stipulated to dismissal of all claims against Mr.

Alvarez and dismissal of the negligent infliction of emotional distress claims against all Defendants. The remaining claims were negligence against the drivers and negligent entrustment against Mr. Nguyen's parents.

Defendants Solano and Alvarez served an offer of judgment on the Plaintiff on August 21, 2020 in the amount of \$15,000, and a second offer of judgment on September 2, 2020 in the amount of \$25,000, which were never accepted. CP. at 339-342, 335-338. After these offers of judgment were served, and before trial began, the Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed all her claims against Defendant Alvarez.

On March 22, 2021, the jury found a total of \$67, 200 in damages for Plaintiff and allocated those damages in the amount of 80% to the Nguyen Defendants and 20% to Defendant Solano. CP. at 353-354. The amount of damages the jury found were owed by Defendant Solano totaled \$13,340 which was less than the \$15,000 offer of judgment served on the Plaintiff pre-trial. *Id*.

On March 31, 2021, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Judgment on the Verdict and Award of Attorney Fees and Costs in the amount of \$67, 200.00. CP. at 339-342. Defendant Solano filed an opposition to Plaintiff's motion. CP. at 305-329, 121-125, 161-185, 150-

160, 39-119. While Plaintiff requested a total judgment upon the verdict be awarded against both Defendants, Defendant Solano stated in her opposition that the judgment must be made in the amount that represented the Defendants' proportionate share of the total damages under RCW 4.22.070. *Id.* Accordingly, Defendant Solano requested the Court enter judgment in an amount that reflected the Defendants' proportionate shares of liability: \$53,760 against the Nguyen Defendants and \$13,440 against Defendant Solano. *Id.*

Meantime, Defendants Solano and Alvarez filed a Cost Bill pursuant to CR 68 on April 5, April 9, and May 5, 2021. CP. at 281-304, 220-244, 126-149.

Plaintiff responded to Defendant Solano's opposition claiming that Defendant Solano should not be awarded any of the costs outlined in her cost bill. CP. at 24-38. Plaintiff further stated that the court should grant Defendant Solano the following invoices that could be reasonably awarded under RCW 4.84.010: invoices from Washington Legal Messengers dated February 4, 2021 and for process service on Dr. Bays (total \$50.00) and Dr. Shankland (total \$104.00). *Id*.

Then, Defendant Solano filed a Cross Motion for Entry of Judgment against Plaintiff Kelly. CP. at 271-275, 245-269. In

Defendant Solano's motion for an award of her own costs per RCW 4.22.070 and CR 68, Defendant Solano explained that she was the prevailing party and, as such, was entitled to an award of her costs against Plaintiff Kelly as she did not improve her position over the offer of judgment served on her attorney on August 21, 2020 in the amount of \$15,000, as well as a second offer of judgment served on her attorney on September 2, 2020. CP. at 339-342, 335-338. Since August 21, 2020 up through trial, Defendant Solano incurred \$93,474.35 in costs which she is entitled to recoup per Court Rule. Id. Defendant Solano respectfully requested the court enter judgment against Plaintiff in favor of Defendant Solano in the amount of \$80,034.35. This reflected the amount of the Plaintiff's damages the jury felt was proximately caused by the collision with Defendant Solano, minus \$93,474.35 in post offer of judgment costs. She also requested the court not enter any judgment against Defendants Solano and Alvarez. Id.

In her response, Plaintiff claimed that Defendant Solano is only entitled to the costs available under RCW 4.84.010 and an award of \$200.00 for statutory attorney fees. CP. 198-205, 186-197. In addition, Plaintiff disagreed that Defendants Nguyen should only be responsible for 80% of the filing fee and statutory attorney fee. *Id*.

Defendants Nguyen filed their response to both Plaintiff and Defendant Solano's motions. CP. at 206-209. Defendants Nguyen disagreed that they were responsible for the Plaintiff's entire cost bill. *Id*. They also stated that they should only be responsible for 80% of the remaining cost bill. *Id*.

During a May 7, 2021 proceeding on Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Judgment on the Verdict and Award of Attorney Fees and Costs, Counsel for Defendant Solano stated that Defendant Solano beat the offer of judgment and, as prevailing party, is entitled to costs under CR 68. RP. at 3.

After the jury's verdict, Defendant Solano filed a motion with Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Anita Farris requesting \$93,464.35 in costs and entry of judgment against Plaintiff. CP. at 39-40, 150-151, 161-163. Judge Farris only awarded Defendant Solano \$354 in costs per CR 68. CP. at 22-23. On July 23, 2021, the Snohomish County Superior Court issued a Memorandum Decision/Order Regarding Entry of Judgment and Attorney Fees and Costs and on Defendant Solano's Cross Motion for Entry of Judgment and Costs. CP. at 22-23. The Court ordered entry of judgment against Defendant Solano in the amount of \$13,086 plus statutorily allowed

interest. *Id.* The Court also awarded Defendant Solano \$200 in statutory attorney fees, \$50 for service of process on Dr. Bays, and \$104 for service of process on Dr. Shankland, totaling \$354 in costs. *Id.*

Plaintiff dismissed her claims against Defendants Nguyen on August 27, 2021 as they fully satisfied the jury verdict and cost bill. CP. at 20-21, 1-3. Then, on August 17, 2021, the Snohomish County Superior Court entered a final judgment in the amount of \$13,340 against Defendant Solano and in favor of the Plaintiff. CP. at 16-19.

On August 19, 2021, Defendant Solano filed a Notice of Appeal seeking review by Division One of the Washington State Court of Appeals of the Snohomish County Superior Court's Memorandum Decision/Order Regarding Entry of Judgment, Attorney Fees and Cost Bill, entered on July 23, 2021, as well as the Snohomish County Superior Court's judgment dated August 17, 2021. CP. at 5-15.

C. Decision of the Division I Court of Appeals

On appeal, Defendant Solano argued: 1) the trial court erred in not awarding Defendant Solano full costs incurred after making two offers of judgment pursuant to Civil Rule 68; and 2) the trial court erred in granting an Order Entering Judgment on the Verdict and Award of

Attorney Fees and Costs against Defendant Solano dated August 17, 2021. Appellant's Corrected Brief (Appellant's Corrected Br.) at 2.

On June 13, 2022, Division I Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision in favor of Respondent Kelly and declined to review Defendant Solano's arguments on appeal:

- (1) Pursuant to *Sims v. Kiro, Inc.*, 20 Wn. App. 229, 238, 580 P.2d 642 (1978), absent a specific statutory or contractual provision authorizing an expanded cost, "costs" as defined under CR 68 are only those costs authorized by the statue, and the trial court does not have authority to award costs beyond those allowed under RCW 4.84.030 and RCW 4.84.080. App. B.
- (2) Unlike CR 41(d), without additional statutory or contractual authority, case law limits the term "costs" under CR 68 to costs as defined in RCW 4.84.010. Hence, the language of CR 68 does not permit an expanded cost recovery.
- (3) Unlike *Marek v. Chesny*, 473 U.S. 1, 2, 105 S. Ct. 3012 (1985), there was no specific statutory or contractual provision authorizing expanded cost recovery.

App. A. at 2-6.

Defendant Solano now seeks review by this Court, of all the issues raised in her opening brief to the Court of Appeals.

V. ARGUMENT

According to RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The second and forth provisions are present in the instant case.

The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with at least two decisions of the Division II Court of Appeals, and this petition involves issues of substantial public importance.

A. The unpublished opinion of the Division 1 Court of Appeals conflicts with Washington Law that encourages settlement and prevents unnecessary litigation.

The Division I Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirms the trial court's decision to limit recoverable costs to only those costs

permitted under RCW 4.84.010. This decision conflicts with applicable case law that encourages settlement. This Court should review that holding because it conflicts with a published Court of Appeals, Division II's decision-*Wallace v. Kuehner*, 111 Wn. App. 809, 823, 46 P.3d 823 (2002). As Division II Court of Appeals ruled, the purpose of CR 68 is to encourage settlements and avoid lengthy litigation. *Wallace*, 111 Wn. App. 809 at 823, 46 P.3d 823.

Civil Rule 68 states:

At any time more than 10 days before the trial begins, a party defending against a claim may serve upon the adverse party an offer to allow judgment to be taken against the defending party for the money or property or to the effect specified in the defending party's offer, with costs then accrued. If within 10 days after the service of the offer the adverse party serves written notice that the offer is accepted, either party may then file the offer and notice of acceptance together with proof of service thereof and thereupon the court shall enter judgment. An offer not accepted shall be deemed withdrawn and evidence thereof is not admissible except in a proceeding to determine costs. If the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the offer, the offeree must pay the costs incurred after the making of the offer. . . .

App. D (emphasis added).

CR 68 does not, by its plain language, limit costs to those under RCW 4.84.010. App. C. Division 1 Court of Appeals further ruled that as "[Defendant]Solano provided no additional statutory or contractual authority allowing recovery of attorney fees, expert witness fees, or

other litigation expenses," the trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding her only those costs permitted in RCW 4.84.010." App. A at 1, 4. However, the courts do not lack authority to interpret statutes. When interpreting a statute, courts "may look to a dictionary to determine the plain meaning of an undefined term." Seattle Housing Authority v. City of Seattle, 3 Wash.App.2d 532, 416 P.3d 1280 (2018). According to Merriam-Webster dictionary, the term "costs" is defined as "expenses incurred in a judicial process," especially "those given by the law or the court to the prevailing party against the losing party." Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, (April 11, 2022, 3:11 a.m.), https: //www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/cost. This Court should accept review to correct the Division I Court of Appeals' error in limiting the term "costs" under CR 68 to those costs permitted under RCW 4.84.010.

B. Division I erroneously ruled that Johnson v. Horizon Fisheries, LLC is inapposite.

Division I ruled that "unlike CR 41(d), absent additional statutory or contractual authority, case law explicitly limits cost recovery under CR 68 to costs as defined in RCW 4.84.010." App. A at 5; App. F. That decision conflicts with Division II Court of Appeals'

published decision in *American Nat'l. Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co.*, 82 Wn. App. 646, 669, 920 P.2d 192 (1996), stating that the trial court has wide discretion in awarding fees and costs. Even if previous courts have not found any basis for including expert witness fees or other costs as part of costs allowed under RCW 4.84.010, that does not preclude this Court from doing so out of equity concerns or other reasons. *Lay v. Hass*, 112 Wn. App. 818, 823, 51 P.3d 130 (2002) (finding that a Washington court may award a prevailing party its attorney fees and costs if recovery of such fees and costs are "provided by private agreement, statute, or a recognized ground of equity").

In her opening brief at 17-19, Defendant Solano requested the Court to follow the guidance of *Johnson v. Horizon Fisheries*, *LLC*, 148 Wn. App. 628, 634, 636, 201 P.3d 346 (2009). In that case, the appellate considered an award by the trial court of costs pursuant to CR 41(d), which allows a defendant to recover "taxable costs" of an action previously dismissed where plaintiff commences an action based upon or including the same claim against the same defendant at a later time. *Johnson*, 148 Wn. App. 628 at 633-634, 201 P.3d 346; App. F. The trial court in the *Johnson* case awarded Defendant costs beyond those allowed under RCW 4.84.010. *Id.* at 628, 631. Plaintiff appealed. *Id.*

- at 628. The appellate court affirmed the trial court award of costs on several grounds:
 - 1) First, the Court noted that the text of CR 41(d) does not reference RCW 4.84.010, unlike CR 54(d), which specifically links awardable costs to RCW 4.84.010. *Id.* at 636. The Court found that under the rules of statutory construction, the drafters' decision to omit any reference to §4.84.010 in CR 41(d) established their intent not to limit the cost recovery authorized by Rule 41(d) to costs authorized by the statute. *Id.* at 634.
 - 2) Second, the Court found that RCW 4.84.010 does not apply where a specific rule or statute expressly authorizes expanded cost recovery, citing *American Civil Liberties Union of Washington v. Blaine School District No. 503*, 95 Wn. App. 106, 115, 975 P.2d 536 (1999) (holding the trial court erred by limiting costs to those allowed by RCW 4.84.010 when the specific cost recovery rule applicable to that case allowed the award of "all costs") and *McConnell v. Mothers Work, Inc.*, 131 Wn. App. 525, 532, 128 P.3d 128 (2006) (rejecting the argument that RCW

- 4.84.010 limits assessable costs when the applicable cost recovery provision authorized costs "as may be allowed by the court"). *Id*.
- 3) Third, the court cited a sound policy reason for not limiting CR 41(d) costs to RCW 4.84.010. In response to Plaintiff's arguments that he should not have to pay for the costs of trial under RCW 4.84.010(5) and (7) where the case never went to trial, the court noted that CR 41 only applies where Plaintiff dismissed an action before trial. *Id.* at 636. Limiting CR 41(d) cost recovery to RCW 4.84 would significantly reduce cost recovery since a defendant cannot use evidence at a trial when there is no trial. *Id.* Thus, the court found that where a Plaintiff has chosen to prevent a trial when he takes a voluntary dismissal, he should be responsible for the costs the defendant reasonably incurred in anticipation of trial. *Id.*

The same reasoning should apply to CR 68. The rule never mentions RCW 4.84.010 (in contrast to CR 54(d)), and the rule states that "if the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the offer, the offeree must pay the costs incurred after

the making of the offer." App. D and G. The phrase "the costs" can more reasonably be interpreted as meaning *all* costs actually incurred during litigation, as opposed to limiting it to statutory costs. This Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals, Division I's error in rejecting CR 41(d) costs to apply the same reasoning to CR 68.

C. This Court should provide a final and definitive ruling on interpretation of "costs" under Civil Rule 68.

Washington's CR 68 is "virtually identical" to Fed. R. Civ. P. 68. App. E; Johnson v. Dep't of Transp., 177 Wn. App. 684, 697, 313 P.3d 1197 (2013) (citing Lietz v. Hansen Law Offices, PSC, 166 Wn. App. 571, 580, 271 P.3d 899 (2012); Hodge v. Dev. Servs. of Am., 65 Wn. App. 576, 580, 828 P.2d 1175 (1992)). "In the absence of state authority it is appropriate to look to the federal interpretation of the equivalent rule." Hodge, 65 Wn. App. 576 at 580, 828 P.2d 1175.

As elaborated in Defendant's opening brief at 22, in the federal courts, the implicit rule has been that prevailing Defendants are entitled to costs under Rule 68. *Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. August*, 450 U.S. 346, 349-350, 352, 367-368, 101 S. Ct. 1146 (1981); Robert L. Rothman, *Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. August*, 101 S. Ct. 1146 (1981), 9 Fla. St. U. L. Rev. 671 (1981).

The Division I Court of Appeals ruled that "unlike *Marek*, there was no specific statutory or contractual provision permitting an expanded cost recovery. Solano's argument is not compelling." App. A at 6. *Marek* expanded the power of Rule 68 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant's Corrected Br. at 22-25. In *Marek*, the United States Supreme Court ruled that the term "costs" in Rule 68 was intended to refer to "all costs properly awardable under the relevant substantive statute or other authority." *Marek*, 473 U.S. 1 at 9, 10 105 S. Ct. 3012. The Court concluded that "all costs properly awardable in an action are to be considered within the scope of Rule 68 "costs." *Id.* (citing Fulps v. Springfield, Tenn., 715 F.2d 1088, 1091-1095 (Sixth Cir. 1983); Waters v. Heublein, Inc., 485 F.Supp. 110, 113-117 (N.D. Cal. 1979); Scheriff v. Beck, 452 F.Supp. 1254, 1259-1260 (Colo. 1978)). Therefore, absent contrary congressional expressions, where the underlying statute defined "costs" to include attorney's fees, such fees are to be "included as costs for purposes of Rule 68." Id.

Here, Defendant Solano does not request this Court for an award of attorney's fees. Defendant Solano respectfully asks the Court uphold the stated goals of CR 68, and award her requested costs.

D. The meaning of the term "costs" under Civil Rule 68 is a novel issue of substantial public interest.

Another reason that the decision should be reviewed is certainly a public interest issue. The Court has never interpreted the term "costs" under CR 68. The plain language of CR 68 states that Defendants are entitled to costs where their settlement offer exceeds the judgment. App. D. Since 1978, the Division 1 Court of Appeals and lower Courts have limited "costs" under CR 68 only to those costs prescribed by statute. *Jordan v. Berkey*, 26 Wn. App. 242, 245, 611 P.2d 1382 (1980) (citing *Sims*, 20 Wn. App. 229, 238, 580 P.2d 642)).

Since the *Sim's* case, generally, "costs" have been defined by the Courts to not include expert fees. 20 Wn. App. 229 at 238, 580 P.2d 642 (citing *Fiorito v. Goerig*, 27 Wn.2d 615, 619, 179 P.2d 316 (1947)).

With all respect and deference to the lower Court, upon a detailed reading of the *Sims* case, however, it appears that Court took an overly broad, and inappropriate, reading of the 1947 Washington Supreme Court case of *Fiorito v. Goerig.* Washington's offer of judgment rule was first adopted on July 1, 1967 and was amended effective April 28, 2015. This post-dated *Fiorito* by twenty years. The *Fiorito* case involved a dispute between parties regarding a joint venture and an accounting to recover certain sums due for services and machine rental.

The Fiorito Court never interpreted the term "costs" under CR

68 because the offer of judgment rule was not yet in existence in 1947. That Court went on to say, "[w]e have consistently followed the general rule concerning allowances of attorneys fees and other items of expense in preparation of trial such as accountants' fees, that such allowances will be allowed only in case of agreement between the parties, or by virtue of specific authority." *Id.* at 619-620 (emphasis added).

Since the *Fiorito* case, our Courts adopted the Washington Civil Rule system which included authority that, by a very plain reading of the rule, allows for a party to recoup, "... costs incurred after the making of the offer." App. D. This post *Fiorito* legal authority does not limit costs to only those charges prescribed by statute. Post CR 68 cases have held that Washington's offer of judgment rule's purpose is to encourage settlements and avoid lengthy litigation. *Wallace*, 111 Wn. App. 809 at 823, 46 P.3d 823 (2002) (emphasis added). The purpose of the rule is hamstrung when Court's inappropriately interpret "costs" under CR 68 to mean only a few hundred dollars as allowed by RCW 4.84 *et. seq*.

E. Division I's decision undercuts the central purpose of Civil Rule 68 by limiting "costs" under Civil Rule 68 to statutory costs.

The ultimate impact of the Division I Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is that despite CR 68's purpose of encouraging settlement and reducing unnecessary litigation, the unpublished decision of Division I Court of Appeals does not uphold the stated goals of CR 68. CR 68 cannot effectively promote settlement and reduce unnecessary litigation if the Court refuses to uphold its main goals to effectuate its purpose. The Division I Court of Appeals' holding encourages lengthy litigation making Defendants bear the actual costs they incurred due to the fact that Plaintiffs refused to accept the offer of judgment and failed to obtain the final judgment greater than the two offers.

As discussed in Appellant's Brief at 25, although the *Marek* case expanded the scope of Rule 68, uncertainty will remain as to the amount of applicable costs when Plaintiffs obtain a final judgment less favorable than the offer they rejected. Agenda Book: Minutes of the October 2019 Meeting of the Advisory Comm. on Civil Rules at 292 (Oct. 29, 2019), https://www.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/2019-10 civil rules agenda book.pdf.

As Division I Court of Appeals acknowledged, "[i]n very limited situations, the prevailing party may be entitled to a broader range of

costs in addition to the costs specified in RCW 4.84.010." App. A at 3. Further, Division I Court of Appeals cited *American Civil Liberties Union of Washington*, 95 Wn. App. 106 at 116, 975 P.2d 536 (1999) ruling that "[t]he prevailing party is entitled to more than statutory costs as provided for in RCW 4.84.010, in civil rights actions, and under the model toxic control act." *Id.* at 3-4.

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