FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/9/2022 3:34 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101085-1 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONSUELO ROSALES SOLANO,

Petitioner,

v.

ERICA KELLY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT ERICA KELLY'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Snohomish County Superior Court No. 16-2-20507-31 Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 83042-2-I

Alicia Kikuchi WSBA #40613 Alicia Kikuchi Law Firm, PLLC 144 Railroad Avenue, Suite 220 Edmonds, WA 98020 206-249-7610 alicia.kikuchi@gmail.com Co-Counsel for Respondent Shannon M. Kilpatrick, WSBA #41495 PO Box 219 – PMB 187 Duvall, WA 98019 206-457-3052 shannon@stritmatter.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Solano argues that the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with a published Division II Court of Appeals' decision – *Wallace v. Kuehner*, 111 Wn. App. 809, 823, 46 P.3d 823 (2002) – and that it involves an issue of substantial public interest. She is wrong on both counts. The Court of Appeals did nothing more than apply the plain language

analysis used to interpret court rules. Solano made policy arguments urging the reversal of the trial court, but those argument could not (and did not) override the plain language of CR 68. If the Court intended to permit recovery under CR 68 for more than just statutory costs, then it would have said so expressly when the rule was written.

Solano cannot point to any case that indicates anything more than statutory costs should be awarded under CR 68. Rather, Solano ignores the existing case law that says the opposite. For this reason, there is no issue of substantial public interest—the issue has already been correctly resolved by the courts. The petition should be denied, and Respondent should be awarded costs.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision follows clear, longstanding principles of plain language analysis.

The Court of Appeal looked to the plain language of CR 68 to determine that costs are limited to those allowed under RCW 4.84.010—and not litigation costs or expert fees. Court

rules are interpreted like statutes, using the same tools of statutory construction. *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 681, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016). The "fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out" legislative intent. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The starting place is "the rule's plain language and ordinary meaning." *Banowsky v. Backstrom*, 193 Wn.2d 724, 735, 445 P.3d 543 (2019).

If the meaning of the court rule is plain on its face, the court must give effect to that meaning. *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 10. Plain meaning can be determined "from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute that includes the provision, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Hernández v. Edmonds Memory Care, LLC*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 869, 874, 450 P.3d 622 (2019).

Without express language authorizing more, Washington courts recognize the term "costs" has a specific, narrowly defined meaning in the law. There is no need to interpret the

term "costs" or rely on a non-legal dictionary definition when the courts have already defined it. Courts have historically narrowly defined costs. *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 674, 880 P.2d 988 (1994). This Court has said explicitly that without express authority, a party is not entitled to more than those costs in RCW 4.84.010. *Id*.

Solano ignores the long-standing history of how the courts interpret the term "costs" and encourages this Court to do the same. She argued that the phrase "the costs" in CR 68 should be interpreted to mean all costs, including litigation and expert expenses, which highlights why her plain language argument fails. The courts are "presumed to know the rules of statutory construction." *Khandelwal v. Seattle Mun. Court*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 323, 332, 431 P.3d 506 (2018). One rule is that "a court may not read into a statute those things that it conceives the legislature may have left out," a rule that also applies when construing court rules. *In re Det. of Lane*, 182 Wn. App. 848,

854, 332 P.3d 1042 (2014). If this Court intended the term "costs" to mean "all costs" it would have said so expressly.

Solano also cannot point to the express language that authorizes an award of expanded costs—whether in a statute or court rule. Instead, she argues the fact the rule itself was enacted is the authority. She says this is so because the purpose of CR 68 is to encourage settlements; as a result all litigation costs must be awardable. No court in this state has ever adopted that argument.

For support, Solano cites to various committee reports and minutes from the federal Advisory Committee on Civil Rules. These reports and minutes concern the federal rules, not the state rules. And they also demonstrate why Kelly's argument is correct—because not even the *federal* rules are currently interpreted as Petitioner argues CR 68 should be interpreted. The reports and minutes instead discuss why a language change might be needed, which would be done

through rulemaking, not by case law. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Petitioner's argument.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision follows earlier decisions on the meaning of "costs" in CR 68 and does not conflict with other decisions.

All three divisions of the Court of Appeals have held CR 68 does not permit a prevailing defendant to recover more than the costs in RCW 4.84.010.

In *Sims v. Kiro, Inc.*, 20 Wn. App. 229, 238, 580 P.2d 642 (1978), Division I held that a prevailing defendant may not recover attorney's fees and expert witness fees under CR 68. Citing *Fiorito*¹, the court noted that "[t]he term "costs" has been interpreted as not including attorney's fees and expert witness fees." *Sims*, 20 Wn. App. at 238. The court emphasized that if the rule is to be expanded to permit recovery of other litigation costs and fees, it must be done by statute or amendment to CR 68. *Id*.

¹ Fiorito v. Goerig, 27 Wn.2d 615, 179 P.2d 316 (1947).

In *Jordan*, Division I reversed an award of costs made under CR 68 because it contained "certain fees." *Jordan v. Berkey*, 26 Wn. App. 242, 245, 611 P.2d 1382 (1980). The court held that though the defendant was entitled to costs because his offer of judgment exceeded what plaintiff recovered, "the costs awarded are limited to those" in RCW 4.84. *Id*.

In *Estep*, Division III of the Court of Appeals reversed an award for expert witness fees the trial court awarded under CR 68 and RCW 4.84.010. *Estep v. Hamilton*, 148 Wn. App. 246, 263, 201 P.3d 331 (2008). Citing *Fiorito*, the court held that expert witness fees could not be awarded as costs under RCW 4.84.010 and so could not be awarded under CR 68. *Id*.

While not directly addressing the same issue presented here, Division II held that under CR 68, a defendant who made an offer of judgment larger than what plaintiff ultimately recovered is entitled to "costs and disbursements," also known

² The nature of the fees is not explained in the opinion.

as statutory attorney fees and costs. *Tippie v. Delisle*, 55 Wn. App. 417, 421, 777 P.2d 1080 (1989).

The courts reached these results because whether used in a statute or court rule, the term "costs" without more has a universal legal definition as only those costs allowed by RCW 4.84.010. Without express language authorizing an expanded award of costs, courts may not award more than traditional statutory costs.

Further, *Wallace v. Kuehner* does not conflict with this case. In *Wallace*, the Court of Appeals held that an offer of judgment could not be served by fax. *Wallace v. Kuehner*, 111 Wn. App. 809, 823, 46 P.3d 823 (2002). In that case, because the offer of judgment was served by fax, it was ineffective and Defendant was not permitted to recover costs. *Id.* at 823-24. There was no discussion of what costs could have been collected. Nor was there any discussion about the meaning of the word "costs" in CR 68. There is nothing about this case that conflicts with the decision made by the Court of Appeals here.

C. Solano provided no evidence this case is of substantial public interest.

To qualify for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Solano is required to show the case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Solano has failed to meet this showing. While encouraging settlement is important, Solano has failed to explain why the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the plain language of CR 68 requires review, especially where the court followed settled case law on the issue. Solano correctly asserts that the Court has never interpreted the terms "costs" under CR 68. However, this is because of the plain meaning of the word – there is no need to interpret a term that is clearly defined to all except Solano.

Solano focuses most of her argument on the fact that *Fiorito* was decided before CR 68 was initially adopted and eventually amended. The Court of Appeals did not find Solano's argument compelling. As previously noted, if this

Court truly believed there was confusion on the definition of costs and wanted to ensure the interpretation found in CR 68 differed from that provided in *Fiorito*, it would have explicitly done so in the rule.

Further, the federal authority cited by Solano also reinforces the incorrect nature of her arguments. While the minutes of the federal committee discuss reasons why the court rule should be changed, that simply means the current federal version of rule 68 is not interpreted as Solano argues it should be. If Solano wants to see the language of the rule changed, she should pursue a change through this Court's rulemaking process.

VI. CONCLUSION

Solano's petition for review should be denied. The Court of Appeals' decision that CR 68 allows only recovery of statutory costs to prevailing parties complies with long-standing principles of plain language interpretation and earlier decisions on the meaning of "costs" under CR 68. Petitioner fails to point

to any cases to show why the Court of Appeals' analysis was incorrect. Petitioner likewise fails to meet its burden of showing how this dispute over the standard definition of "costs" under CR 68 rises to the level of being an issue of "substantial public interest" given the long-standing case law. The petition should be denied, and Respondent should be granted costs pursuant to RAP 18.1.

I certify this document contains 2,860 words, exclusive of the appendices, the title sheet, the table of contents, the table of authorities, the certificate of compliance, the certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images, in compliance with RAP 18.17(b).